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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA AMERICAN WILD HORSE CAMPAIGN ) 1025 Alameda # 633 ) Belmont, CA 94002, ) ) and ) ) KIMERLEE CURYL ) P.O. Box 1802 ) Santa Ynez, California, ) ) Plaintiffs, ) ) v. )



Civ. No.



RYAN ZINKE, Secretary Department of the Interior 1849 C Street N.W. Washington, DC 20240, MICHAEL D. NEDD, Acting Deputy Director of Operations Bureau of Land Management 1849 C Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20240, and JILL C. SILVEY, District Manager Elko District Office Bureau of Land Management 3900 Idaho Street Elko, Nevada 89801. Defendants.



) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) )



COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND DECLARATORY RELIEF 1.



This case challenges a highly controversial and precedent-setting 10-year plan by



the Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) to round up and remove approximately 9,053 wild horses from two herd management complexes and other public lands in Nevada comprising 3,870,919 acres, referred to as the Antelope and Triple B Complexes. Under the plan, BLM will castrate—i.e. geld—an unspecified number of male horses and then return them to the public range as part of a non-breeding population, and treat and return to the range a large number of female horses (mares) after treating them with fertility control drugs. This is the first time BLM will be returning gelded horses to the public range as a method for reducing wild horse populations. BLM is also using the fertility drug GonaCon on female horses before it has the
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results of its own study of the behavioral effects of this drug that it is currently conducting in a portion of the Antelope Complex. 2.



BLM’s 10-year plan violates its obligations under the Wild Free-Roaming Horses



and Burros Act (“Wild Horse Act” or “WHA”), 16 U.S.C. § 1331 et seq., to protect wild horses as “living symbols of the historic and pioneer spirit of the West,” because it will have adverse impacts on the natural free-roaming behaviors of both the stallions and mares, as well as their herds, and will impair the interests of members of the public, including Plaintiffs, who enjoy observing, studying, and documenting the natural behaviors of wild horses on the public range. Accordingly, BLM’s decision to use both of these controversial and untested birth control methods as population control measures is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, and not in accordance with law, within the meaning of the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). 3.



BLM’s plan to return geldings to the public range as part of this project is



particularly arbitrary and capricious and an abuse of discretion in light of the fact that in 2016 BLM initiated a five-year experimental “research” program that involves returning geldings to the public range in Utah for the very purpose of monitoring and evaluating the effects of gelding on the natural behaviors of both individual wild horses and their populations, to inform BLM as to whether it should use this particular approach as a management technique in the future for wild horses. BLM’s decision to nevertheless go forward with returning geldings to the Antelope and Triple B Complexes in Nevada without such information is arbitrary and capricious and an abuse of discretion within the meaning of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). 4.



BLM’s plan to return to the public range mares treated with GonaCon, as an



additional method of population control, is also arbitrary and capricious, as BLM is currently
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conducting a “Pilot Program” on GonaCon on a small segment of the population of wild horses that reside in a portion of the Antelope Complex at issue here, referred to as “Water Canyon,” for the stated purpose of “monitor[ing] the effectiveness of treating all mares” with this fertility drug. Therefore, to begin using GonaCon on a larger scale before BLM has the results of its “Pilot Program,” and when GonaCon may also cause adverse impacts on the natural behaviors of female wild horses, and their populations, and may also lead to spontaneous abortions in young female horses, is particularly arbitrary and capricious and an abuse of discretion within the meaning of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). 5.



BLM’s decision also violates the National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”),



42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq., because BLM failed to prepare an Environmental Impact Statement. BLM’s decision launches a decade-long program, impacting over 9,000 wild horses and almost 4 million acres of public land in two separate wild horse “Complexes” made of several different Herd Management Areas. Moreover, this decision is the first of its kind in the 46-year history of the management of BLM’s Wild Horse and Burro program, and will have unknown effects on the behaviors of the gelded males, mares treated with GonaCon, and the wild horse populations living on these public lands. Further, the return of gelded horses has been criticized by several wild horse experts, public comments on the plan, BLM’s own officials, and the National Academy of Sciences. This is also the first time, other than the ongoing “Pilot Program” in the Water Canyon portion of the Antelope Complex, that BLM will be using GonaCon on mares as a population management measure. Nevertheless, despite the numerous indicia of this decision’s significant, unknown, and controversial environmental impacts, BLM did not prepare an Environmental Impact Statement (“EIS”) before finalizing this plan, in violation of NEPA and the implementing regulations for that statute. Accordingly, BLM’s decision also violates NEPA
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and is arbitrary and capricious and an abuse of discretion within the meaning of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). JURISDICTION AND VENUE 6.



This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and venue



in this Court is proper because the decision at issue was made by BLM’s Elko, Nevada office. PARTIES 7.



Plaintiff American Wild Horse Campaign (“AWHC”) is a national non-profit



organization whose mission is to increase protection of wild horses and burros to preserve these cherished animals and their natural behaviors for future generations to enjoy in the wild. AWHC’s mission is endorsed by a broad-based coalition of public-interest groups, environmentalists, humane organizations, and historical societies representing over ten million supporters. AWHC’s supporters and members of its coalition enjoy viewing, studying, and photographing wild horses on public lands, including the Antelope and Triple B Complexes that are at issue in this case. AWHC submitted comments on BLM’s Draft Environmental Assessment opposing BLM’s ten-year plan, particularly with respect to the vast number of horses that BLM intends to remove, those aspects of the plan that involve returning gelded horses to the public range without having any basis for knowing how gelding horses will affect their natural behaviors and the natural behaviors and social organizations of the wild horse populations to which they will be returned, and the part of the plan that involves using GonaCon on mares, when the safety and efficacy of that fertility drug has not been adequately tested. 8.



BLM’s decision to remove over 9,000 wild horses and to return gelded horses and



mares on GonaCon, and its decision to do so without preparing an EIS, harms AWHC’s organizational interests and the interests of its coalition members in protecting and preserving
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viable “free roaming” herds of “wild” horses on public lands, and their aesthetic interests in observing, studying, and photographing wild horses engaging in their natural behaviors on public lands. 9.



AWHC has brought similar cases in recent years, challenging BLM’s prior efforts



to control wild horse populations through sterilization, particularly through the return of gelded males to the range. Am. Wild Horse Preservation Campaign v. Salazar, 800 F. Supp. 2d 270 (D.D.C. 2011); Am. Wild Horse Preservation Campaign v. Salazar, 115 F. Supp. 3d 1 (D.D.C. 2012); American Wild Horse Preservation Campaign v. Zinke, No. 1:16-cv-1-EJL, 2017 WL 4349012 (D. Idaho Sept. 29, 2017).1 Although these prior cases either invalidated, or led BLM to withdraw, plans to return gelded horses to the public lands, AWHC has been forced to spend significant organizational resources monitoring, commenting on, opposing, and challenging—yet again—BLM’s current unlawful wild horse sterilization plan, when AWHC’s extremely limited resources could otherwise be spent on other programs and activities to promote its mission of keeping wild horses wild and free on the public range. 10.



A court order declaring unlawful BLM’s Antelope/Triple B Complex 10-year



plan and requiring the agency to comply fully with NEPA before undertaking such a plan, including by preparation of an EIS, would protect AWHC’s interests and those of its coalition members in the welfare and continued viability of free-roaming herds of wild horses in the Antelope and Triple B Complexes and elsewhere in the U.S., and would allow AWHC to devote its limited resources to other wild horse protection and preservation programs, rather than having to spend such resources to counteract BLM’s unlawful action of sterilizing wild horses.



                                                             1



 AWHC was formerly known as the American Wild Horse Preservation Campaign. 
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11.



Plaintiff Kimerlee Curyl is a photographer with a professional and personal



interest in the wild horse herds that live in the Antelope/Triple B Complexes. She has spent her career photographing wild horses, and exhibits her photographs in galleries across the country. She enjoys observing and photographing wild horses engaged in wild, free-roaming behaviors. Ms. Curyl has visited the wild horses in the Antelope/Triple B Complexes several times and has definite plans to continue to visit them in the future, both for her personal aesthetic enjoyment and to pursue her professional interest in photographing these wild animals. 12.



BLM’s unlawful decision impairs Ms. Curyl’s aesthetic, recreational, economic,



and professional interests in observing and photographing the wild horses that live in the Antelope/Triple B Complexes because BLM will be removing more than 9,000 wild horses from these areas, thereby diminishing Ms. Curyl’s ability to view wild horses on these public lands, and because BLM will be returning to the range gelded males and mares treated with fertility treatments, which will adversely affect the natural behaviors of these animals and their wild horse populations. 13.



A court order enjoining BLM from implementing its 10-year plan will redress Ms.



Curyl’s injuries by preventing the removal of so many horses and the return of non-breeding horses to the range that no longer engage in natural behaviors, and will therefore protect Ms. Curyl’s ability to observe and photograph these animals engaging in their natural wild behaviors. 14.



Defendant Ryan Zinke is the Secretary of the Department of the Interior, the



parent agency for BLM, and is ultimately responsible for the decision at issue here. 15.



Defendant Michael Nedd is BLM’s Acting Deputy Director of Operations and



therefore also responsible for the decision at issue.
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16.



Defendant Jill C. Silvey is District Manager of BLM’s Elko Nevada District



Office, and signed the Record of Decision at issue in this case. FACTS GIVING RISE TO PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS I.



STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK A.



The Wild Free-Roaming Horses and Burros Act



17.



Finding that “wild free-roaming horses and burros are living symbols of the



historic and pioneer spirit of the West,” and that “they contribute to the diversity of life forms within the Nation and enrich the lives of the American people,” Congress enacted the WHA in 1971 to ensure that “wild free-roaming horses and burros shall be protected from capture, branding, harassment, [and] death,” and that they are “considered in the area where presently found, as an integral part of the natural system of the public lands.” 16 U.S.C. § 1331. 18.



The Act provides that the Secretary of the Interior “shall manage wild free-



roaming horses and burros as components of the public lands … in a manner that is designed to achieve and maintain a thriving natural ecological balance on the public lands.” 16 U.S.C. § 1331. To further ensure this objective, the statute provides that “[a]ll management activities shall be at the minimal feasible level.” 16 U.S.C. § 1331. 19.



The WHA’s implementing regulations require that “[w]ild horses and burros shall



be managed as self-sustaining populations of healthy animals in balance with other uses and the productive capacity of their habitat.” 43 C.F.R. § 4700.0-6(a). The regulations further require that “[m]anagement activities affecting wild horses and burros shall be undertaken with the goal of maintaining free-roaming behavior.” Id. at § 4700.0-6(c) (emphasis added). 20.



BLM is tasked with protecting and managing wild horses and burros on nearly



26.9 million acres of the 245 million acres of public lands managed by the agency. In delineating
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areas for wild horse use, BLM “shall consider the appropriate management level for the herd, the habitat needs of the animals, [and] the relationships with other uses of the public and adjacent private lands.” 43 C.F.R. § 4710.3-1. The appropriate management level (“AML”) is “expressed as a population range within which [wild horses] can be managed for the long term” in a given herd management area without damaging the range. BLM Handbook H-4700-1, at 4.2.1; 16 U.S.C. § 1331(b)(1) (authorizing BLM to determine AMLs). 21.



The WHA provides that BLM “may designate and maintain specific ranges on



public lands as sanctuaries for [the] protection and preservation” of wild horses. 16 U.S.C. § 1333(a). Pursuant to this authority, BLM designates areas of the public range as Herd Management Areas (“HMAs”), which are areas “established for the maintenance of wild horse and burro herds.” 43 C.F.R. §4710.3-1. 22.



The statute provides that “[f]or the purpose of furthering knowledge of wild horse



and burro population dynamics . . . the Secretary shall contract for a research study of such animals with such individuals independent of Federal and State government as may be recommended by the National Academy of Sciences for having scientific expertise and special knowledge of wild horse and burro protection, wildlife management and animal husbandry as related to rangeland management.” 16 U.S.C. § 1333(b). The WHA also provides that in making management decisions under the statute, BLM officials “shall consider the recommendations of qualified scientists in the field of biology and ecology.” Id. at § 1333(a). B.



The National Environmental Policy Act



23.



Congress enacted the National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”), 42 U.S.C. §§



4331–4370f, to ensure that federal agencies fully consider the environmental impacts of their actions before taking them, consider alternatives to proposed actions that may have less adverse
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environmental impacts, and make information publicly available with sufficient detail to promote fully informed public participation in agency decision-making. 24.



To meet these objectives, all agencies must prepare an Environmental Impact



Statement (“EIS”) for any major federal action that may “significantly affect[]” the environment. 42 U.S.C. § 4332(C). 25.



The Council on Environmental Quality (“CEQ”)—an agency within the



Executive Office of the President—has promulgated regulations implementing NEPA that are “binding on all Federal agencies.” 40 C.F.R. § 1500.3. These regulations provide that in determining whether an EIS is required with respect to a particular proposed action, an agency must prepare an Environmental Assessment (“EA”) that analyzes the environmental impacts of the proposed action as well as alternatives. Id. §§ 1501.4(c), 1509.9. 26.



In determining whether an EIS is required, the agency must consider whether the



proposed action may have a “significant” effect on the human environment. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27. The “significance” determination is based on factors such as the degree to which the effects on the environment “are likely to be highly controversial” or “are highly uncertain”; the degree to which the action “may establish a precedent for future actions with significant effects or represents a decision in principle about a future consideration,” or “may cause loss or destruction of significant scientific, cultural, or historical resources”; and whether the action “threatens a violation of Federal, State, or local law or requirements imposed for the protection of the environment.” Id. 27.



A significant effect, requiring an EIS, may exist “even if the Federal agency



believes that on balance the effect will be beneficial.” 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27(b)(1).
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28.



The existence of any one of the CEQ significance criteria usually requires the



preparation of an EIS. 29.



If an agency decides that an EIS is not required, it issues a Finding of No



Significant Impact (“FONSI”), which must present the reasons why the agency has determined its proposed action “will not have a significant impact” on the environment.” 40 C.F.R. § 1508.13. II.



Controversy Regarding the Gelding of Wild Horses. 30.



BLM has never before returned geldings to the public range as a population



control measure. 31.



The only other times that BLM proposed gelding horses as a population control



strategy (vs. as an experimental program), AWHC sued the agency, and either BLM subsequently rescinded those plans, American Wild Horse Preservation Campaign et al. v. Salazar, et al., 800 F. Supp. 2d at 276 (dismissing case as moot because BLM’s decision was rescinded after the filing of the complaint); American Wild Horse Preservation Campaign et al. v. Salazar, et al., 115 F. Supp. 3d at 5 (granting BLM’s motion to a voluntary remand to make a new decision), or the plan was invalidated, American Wild Horse Preservation Campaign v. Zinke, No. 1:16-cv-1-EJL, 2017 WL 4349012 (D. Idaho Sept. 29, 2017). In each instance AWHC provided to the agency affidavits from several experts who explained the serious adverse effects gelding would have on both the individual horses and their herds, including that gelding will destroy the “wild” and “free-roaming” behavior of the gelded horses, and interrupt the social organization, structure, and behaviors of their herds. 32.



In a 2010 decision concerning the reduction of wild horse populations in Oregon,



BLM rejected gelding as a means of population control because it would increase deterioration
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of the range. BLM concluded that “while numbers of horses and reproductive capacity would be reduced, it could be expected that gelding bands may create a situation in which more localized impacts may be seen in riparian areas[,]” because “[g]eldings tend to congregate in larger numbers that stallion/mare bands.” 33.



In a comprehensive 2013 study of BLM’s Wild Horse and Burro Program (“NAS



Report”), the National Academy of Sciences’ National Research Council explained that returning gelded horses to the range is “counter to the often-stated public interest in maintaining natural behaviors in free-ranging horses.” The NAS Report further reported that there are many unknowns about how gelding wild horses will affect these individual horses and their herds: The effect that gelding a portion of the males in a herd would have on reproduction and behavior could not be predicted at the time this report was prepared. Aside from variability in how much male-type behavior is lost in gelded animals, the effects of gelding on reproduction and behavior in the population will also depend on the roles that the males selected for gelding (whether harem males or bachelors) hold in the population, their reproductive and social history, and possibly their age. Keeping a portion of the male population nonreproducing by gelding could increase aggression and competition in herds or decrease it. Similarly, reproductive success may be reduced or increased. With respect to effects at the population level, it is not clear how castration of males would be better than vasectomy, which does not affect testosterone or male-type behaviors. 34.



In May 2016, BLM announced its decision to engage in 5-year research study in



certain HMAs in Utah for several purposes, including to “look at the behavioral effects of gelding” on wild horses and their populations. Population Control Research Wild Horse Gather for the Conger and Frisco Herd Management Areas (May 2016) (hereinafter “Utah Research Project” or “Research Project”). This Research Project, which began in the summer of 2016, involves gelding approximately 37 males, returning to the range both gelded and ungelded males, and radio-tagging 8 treatment and 8 control males “for intensive behavioral data collection.” Final EA at 12. As explained by BLM in the Decision Record for the Utah Research
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Project, “[t]he behavioral studies at Conger HMA (treatment population) will inform BLM about the behavioral effects of gelding a portion of a wild horse herd.” Decision Record at 6 (emphasis added). As BLM further explained, “[t]hat type of information is currently unavailable.” Id. (emphasis added). Thus, the Final EA for the Utah Research Project explained, “[o]ver the next 10 years, implementation of the Proposed Action would allow for data to be gathered and analyzed that might better assist land managers and specialists to make better decisions about the use of gelding as a management tool for population growth suppression.” Final EA at 46 (emphasis added). As the Final EA for the Research Project further explained, “[n]o previous study of this type has examined the effect of gelding on the behavior of free-roaming wild horses, nor how they interact with intact wild stallions.” Id. (emphasis added). BLM elaborated on this point by stressing that “[n]o previous study has directly focused on the individual or populationlevel effects of gelding males in a free-roaming horse population,” and that “[a] central and compelling reason to complete the proposed study is to inform BLM with data and associated analyses about these questions.” Id. (emphasis added). 35.



The 5-year Utah Research Project is only in its second year—i.e., it will not be



completed until September 2021. See Utah Research Project Final EA at 12-13. 36.



In July 2017, in connection with the decision to remove wild horses from certain



HMAs in Wyoming, BLM explained to the public that it had eliminated from consideration the use of surgical or chemical sterilization, including gelding, as a method to reduce population growth of wild horses. Environmental Assessment, Adobe Town, Salt Wells Creek, and Great Divide Herd Management Areas Wild Horse Gather (July 2017) at 19. BLM explained that it had rejected this approach because this management method “has yet to be implemented in wild horse populations[.]” “[r]esearch on the use of these techniques on wild horse behavior is still
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ongoing[,]” and “[t]he effectiveness and impacts of these techniques . . . have not been extensively researched under field conditions.” Id. (emphasis added). III.



Controversy Surrounding the Use of GonaCon on Mares. 37.



GonaCon is a gonadotropin-releasing hormone immunocontraceptive vaccine.



38.



In its 2013 Report, the NAS concluded that “[t]he most promising fertility-control



methods for application to free-ranging horses or burros are porcine zona pellucida (PZP) vaccines, GonaCon vaccine, and chemical vasectomy.” NAS Report at 6. However, stressing that “[p]reserving natural behaviors is important,” the NAS Report further explained that, as to GonaCon, “further studies on behavioral effects of this product are needed.” Id. at 7 (emphasis added). The NAS Report concluded that “[t]he major gaps in knowledge about . . . GonaCon include a thorough understanding for [the] vaccine of percentage and duration of efficacy and the extent of its reversibility.” Id. at 153. The NAS Report further cautioned that “GonaCon should be examined to evaluate the extent to which treated females continue to exhibit sexual behavior, which is important for maintaining social interactions.” Id. (emphasis added). The NAS Study also noted that GonaCon “[s]hould not be administered during early pregnancy because abortion could occur.” Id. at Table 4-1. 39.



On May 15, 2015 BLM issued a Draft Environmental Assessment concerning its



proposal to conduct a 10-year “Pilot program” using PZP-22 to treat wild mares in a section of the Antelope Complex called “Water Canyon” in order “to address the potential environmental consequences” associated with this particular immunocontraceptive. The Water Canyon Project Area represents 10.6% of the Antelope HMA.
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40.



One Alternative proposed by BLM for the 10-year Pilot Project was instead to use



GonaCon, a different immunocontraceptive that had never before been used by BLM on female wild horses. 41.



Plaintiff AWHC submitted comments on the proposal and stated that, particularly



in light of the conclusions of the NAS Report concerning GonaCon, “this experimental fertility control drug is not appropriate for field use and should be dropped from consideration.” 42.



Nevertheless, on August 17, 2015, BLM announced its decision to implement



Alternative B—the use of GonaCon—as the fertility agent for the 10-year Pilot Program in order “to observe the effectiveness of GonaCon to maintain a target population level.” Decision Record (Aug. 17, 2015) at 2. 43.



On September 22, 2015, AWHC’s attorney sent a letter to BLM objecting to the



GonaCon Pilot Project on the grounds that GonaCon “has never been used before by BLM on wild horses,” and because BLM had failed to adequately address the potential adverse behavioral and other impacts on mares treated with GonaCon, as well as their wild horse populations. Letter to BLM from Katherine Meyer (Sept. 22, 2015). AWHC’s attorney explained that “the use of GonaCon in this unscientific, unregimented proposal will place in jeopardy the individual horses’ long-term well-being and their natural, social behaviors, which are attributes that make wild horses celebrated American icons, treasured by Americans and others around the world.” This letter emphasized and attached a review of research on the use of GonaCon that revealed the lack of data to support its use, and evidence indicating negative impacts to pregnant mares, including “association with abortion when given in early stages of pregnancy.” Id. 44.



AWHC’s letter to BLM also noted that the only post-NAS Report study on



GonaCon cited by BLM in support of choosing this approach was a 2014 report on the
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experimental use of GonaCon on wild horses by the National Park Service in Teddy Roosevelt National Park, Ranson, et al., Applied Animal Behavior Science 157 (2014). However, as AWHC’s attorney explained, “that paper is not sufficient evidence of GonaCon’s impacts [on] wild horses, because its study group included just 15 mares (14 mares were eliminated from the study when they became pregnant after receiving the GonaCon vaccine) and because the authors admit that they could not determine whether some impacts observed resulted from the vaccine or the effects of a recent culling (removal) of horses from the herd.” In fact, as the letter stated, “even the authors of this paper concluded that ‘long-term influences of [GonaCon] remain uncertain.” Ranson, et al., Applied Animal Behavior Science 157 (2014) at 91 (emphasis added). 45.



AWHC’s letter to BLM further explained that BLM should not go forward with



the Water Canyon Pilot Project without establishing a formal scientific protocol for determining the impacts of this experiment on the natural behaviors of wild horses. 46.



The Water Canyon Pilot Project is only in the third year of a 10-year project.



47.



BLM does not yet have the results from its 10-year Water Canyon Pilot Project on



GonaCon. IV.



BLM’s Antelope/Triple B Complexes Decision. 48.



On July 21, 2017, BLM published for public comment a proposed 10-year plan



for management of wild horses in the Antelope and Triple B Complexes. These two complexes consist of several herd management areas in Nevada, including the Antelope, Antelope Valley, Goshute, Maverick-Medicine, Spruce-Pequop, and Triple B Herd Management Areas. For purposes of the plan at issue, BLM collectively refers to these several HMAs as the “Antelope and Triple B Complexes.” They are located 50 miles southeast of Elko, Nevada, in the southeastern portion of Elko County and the northern portion of White Pine County.
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49.



The area affected by the planned round-up and fertility control includes



approximately 3,870,919 acres, including the 2,815,664 combined acres of the two Complexes, plus additional lands where wild horse reside outside of the HMAs that make up the Complexes. 50.



The Draft EA estimated that the current population of wild horses within the



Antelope and Triple B Complexes is 9,525. 51.



The Draft EA explained that BLM was proposing “Alternative A” as the proposed



action, which consists of a 10-year plan to remove horses from the Complexes and to engage in certain population control measures to achieve and maintain the populations at AML. Under the plan, BLM would (1) round up and remove approximately 9,053 excess wild horses from the two Complexes; and (2) administer fertility control (either PZP, GonaCon, or a “newly developed formulation”) to a segment of the removed mares that would then be returned to the range. Despite the fact that BLM’s Utah Research Project is only in its initial stages, and hence the agency does not yet have data from that study regarding the effects of gelding on wild horses and their populations, the 10-year plan also includes gelding a certain number of male horses that would be returned to the range. BLM intends to manage the Complexes with an adjusted 60% male/40% female ratio. 52.



The Draft EA did not specify how many mares would be treated with fertility



drugs or precisely which fertility drug(s) would be used, including whether BLM would use GonaCon; nor did the Draft EA specify how many, or when, geldings would be returned to the range. 53.



Plaintiff AWHC submitted comments objecting to the 10-year plan on the



grounds that BLM was removing far too many wild horses from these public lands and leaving
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only a small fraction of wild horses there, while at the same time allowing livestock owners to graze far more sheep and cattle on these same public lands. 54.



Plaintiff AWHC also complained that BLM’s plan to return gelded horses to the



range was not scientifically based and would destroy the “wild” “free-roaming” nature of the gelded males and the wild horse populations to which they are returned. It stressed that “research on the use of gelding in wild equine populations—specifically surgical procedure, safety, and effects on behavior[]—is minimal at best,” and noted that the Draft EA concedes that BLM intends to use information collected during the early release of geldings to determine how to manage geldings in the future—i.e., the agency admits it does not presently know what the effects of gelding will be on the “wild” and natural “free roaming” behavior of the individual gelded horses or on the wild horse populations to which they will be returned. 55.



AWHC also pointed out that BLM’s plan to return gelded horses to the range was



at odds with the NAS Report which concluded that this approach “is counter to the often-stated public interest in maintaining natural behaviors in free-ranging horses,” and that “[a] potential disadvantage of both surgical and chemical castration is loss of testosterone and consequent reduction in or complete loss of male-type behaviors necessary for maintenance of social organization, band integrity, and expression of a natural behavior repertoire.” 56.



AWHC also reminded BLM that its own 2017 EA for a Wyoming roundup



explained to the public with regard to gelding that “[t]he use of these methods to reduce population growth has yet to be implemented in wild horse populations,” that “[r]esearch on the use of these techniques on wild horse behavior is still ongoing,” and that “[t]he effectiveness and impacts of these techniques . . . have not been extensively researched under field conditions.”
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57.



AWHC further stressed that several wild horse experts had explained in expert



declarations submitted in prior litigation involving gelding and attached anew to AWHC’s comments that gelding horses will have serious adverse impacts on the individual horses themselves, including their ability to survive on the range at all, as well as adverse effects on the wild horse populations to which they are returned. For example, the late Dr. Jay Kirkpatrick, founder of the Science and Conservation Biology at Zoo Montana and a foremost authority on wildlife reproductive biology explained that: The very essence of the wild horse, that is, what make it a wild horse, is the social organization and social behaviors. Geldings (castrated male horses) no longer exhibit the natural behaviors of non-castrated stallions. We know this to be true from hundreds of years’ experience with gelded domestic horses. Furthermore, gelded stallions will not keep their bands together, which is an integral part of a viable herd. These social dynamics were molded by millions of years of evolution, and will be destroyed if the BLM returns castrated horses to the HMAs. . . Castrating horses will effectively remove the biological and physiological controls that prompt these stallions to act like wild horses. This will negatively impact the place of the horse in the social order of the band and the herd. 58.



AWHC further reminded BLM that its 2010 roundup plan for an HMA in Oregon



concluded that returning geldings to the range could increase damage to the range, in that BLM concluded that “it could be expected gelding bands may create a situation in which more localized impacts may be seen in riparian areas,” because “[g]eldings tend to congregate in larger numbers than stallion/mare bands.” 59.



In its comments, AWHC further complained that this 10-year plan, which is



massive in scope and clearly experimental in purpose—i.e., because the agency concedes it does not know how gelding will affect either the individual horses or wild horse populations— requires the preparation of an EIS because of the sheer number of horses the agency plans to remove from such a large tract of land, the uncertain and unknown effects of the plan on individual horses and wild horse populations, the scientific controversy surrounding the return of 19   



geldings to the range, the precedent that will be set by this massive project, and the many ways in which the plan violates the language and intent of the Wild Horse Act—i.e. to protect wild horses and to preserve them in their natural, free-roaming state. 60.



AWHC also complained about BLM’s possible use of GonaCon for this 10-year



management plan on the grounds that “research has not yet determined the effects of GonaCon on wild horse natural behavior.” AWHC explained that “GonaCon is an experimental fertility control vaccine that interferes with the production of reproductive hormone, which drive natural behaviors in wild horses,” and that it “may alter natural behaviors and therefore have significant negative impacts on wild horses.” AWHC further reminded BLM that the “NAS concluded that ‘[f]urther studies of its behavioral effects are needed,’ before GonaCon is used by BLM,” and it attached its attorney’s letter dated September 22, 2015 which emphasized that this experimental drug is not appropriate for field study and pointed out the limitations of the 2014 Ranson study conducted by the National Park Service. 61.



Plaintiff AWHC also complained that the Draft EA failed to provide the public



with important factual information concerning the number and timing of roundups that will occur during the term of the 10-year plan, the number of horses that would be gelded and returned to the range, and the number of mares that would be treated with fertility control, and in what form. 62.



In its comments AWHC urged BLM to refrain from removing so many wild



horses from the range because, as the NAS Report concluded, continuing to roundup and remove wild horses only makes the problem worse, because it fuels high compensatory population rates for horses left on the range. AWHC also urged BLM to instead adjust livestock use to protect the range from any deterioration. They also urged BLM to eliminate the gelding and GonaCon
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portions of the plan, due to the adverse effects returning geldings will have on the “wild” and “free-roaming” nature of the individual horses, as well as the wild horse populations as a whole. 63.



Public comment on the proposed 10-year plan overwhelmingly opposed the plan



on various grounds, including that there is no need to remove so many wild horses from these areas; BLM should instead reduce livestock grazing in these areas to reduce damage to the range; there are too many unknown adverse effects related to the gelding of individual wild horses and the effects of returning geldings to wild horse populations; there is too little information about the adverse impacts of GonaCon on mares in the field; and BLM was required to prepare an EIS before going forward with this massive 10-year management plan. 64.



Approximately 8,000 citizens submitted comments objecting to BLM’s proposed



65.



On December 21, 2017, BLM issued its Final EA and Record of Decision. The



plan.



agency explained that it had decided to go forward with its proposed action, including a 10-year gather plan and population control measures under which it would round up and remove approximately 9,053 wild horses from the two Complexes, administer population control measures (e.g., PZP, GonaCon, or “newly developed formulations”) to an unspecified number of mares that would be returned to the range, geld and return an unspecified number of gelded horses to the range, and adjust sex ratios to achieve a 60% male/40% female sex ratio. BLM contended that it needed to undertake this project to “reduce the wild horse population growth rates to achieve and maintain established AML ranges,” and that this action was “needed to prevent undue or unnecessary degradation of public lands associated with excess wild horses, and to restore a thriving ecological balance and multiple-use relationship on public lands.”
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66.



Although the Final EA states that the 2013 NAS Report concluded that GonaCon



“was one of the most preferable available methods for contraception in wild horses and burros,” Final EA at 16, the EA omitted the remainder of the NAS Report conclusion concerning GonaCon—i.e., that “further studies on behavioral effects of this product are needed.” The EA also omitted reference to the fact that the NAS Report noted that use of GonaCon on pregnant mares causes the horses to miscarry. 67.



The only post-NAS Report study addressing behavior impacts that was cited by



BLM in support of its decision to use GonaCon was the 2014 Ranson study discussed in paragraphs 45, 60 above. 68.



The Final EA did not cite a 2017 study on GonaCon that concluded that the use of



this drug “may have impact on the complex evolutionary social organization of horses,” which “needs to be investigated more carefully,” and that “[i]t is imperative to take into consideration that use of [GonaCon] in pregnant animals may lead to abortion.” Gupta, “Wildlife population management: are contraceptive vaccines a feasible proposition?” Frontiers in Bioscience, Scholar (June 2017). 69.



In issuing its final Record of Decision, BLM did not prepare an EIS, but instead



issued a Finding of No Significant Impact (“FONSI”). PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS FOR RELIEF I.



Claims Under the Wild Horse Act and Administrative Procedure Act. 70.



By deciding to return gelded horses that will be unable to engage in their natural



wild behaviors to the Antelope and Triple B Complexes as part of its population management measures, BLM has violated its statutory obligation to preserve wild horses in their “wild” and “free-roaming” state as “an integral part of the natural system of the public lands,” 16 U.S.C. §
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1331, and its regulations which provide that “[m]anagement activities affecting wild horses and burros shall be undertaken with the goal of maintaining free-roaming behavior.” Id. at § 4700.06(c) (emphasis added). Accordingly, BLM’s decision is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, and not in accordance with law within the meaning of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). 71.



By deciding to return gelded horses to the Antelope and Triple B Complexes as



part of its population management measures, when BLM acknowledges that it does not know what adverse effects gelding will have on both the individual geldings as well as the wild horse populations to which they will be returned, and has not even obtained data on this issue from its nascent Utah Research Study, BLM has violated its statutory obligation to preserve wild horses in their “wild” and “free-roaming” state as “an integral part of the natural system of the public lands,” 16 U.S.C. § 1331, and the agency’s own regulations which provide that “[m]anagement activities affecting wild horses and burros shall be undertaken with the goal of maintaining freeroaming behavior.” Id. at § 4700.0-6(c) (emphasis added). Accordingly, BLM’s decision is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, and not in accordance with law within the meaning of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). 72.



By deciding to use GonaCon on wild mares, when the effects of this drug on the



natural, free-roaming behavior of mares and their populations remains unknown, BLM has violated its statutory obligation to preserve wild horses in their “wild” and “free-roaming” state as “an integral part of the natural system of the public lands,” 16 U.S.C. § 1331, and its regulations which provide that “[m]anagement activities affecting wild horses and burros shall be undertaken with the goal of maintaining free-roaming behavior.” Id. at § 4700.0-6(c) (emphasis added). Accordingly, BLM’s decision to use GonaCon as part of this 10-year plan is
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arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, and not in accordance with law within the meaning of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). 73.



By deciding to use GonaCon as part of this 10-year management approach when



BLM is only in the third year of its 10-year Pilot Project concerning GonaCon in the Water Canyon portion of the Antelope Complex, does not even have the results of that poorly designed Pilot Project, and does not know what adverse impacts GonaCon may have on the natural behaviors of these animals and their populations, BLM has violated its statutory obligation to preserve wild horses in their “wild” and “free-roaming” state as “an integral part of the natural system of the public lands,” 16 U.S.C. § 1331, and the agency’s own regulations which provide that “[m]anagement activities affecting wild horses and burros shall be undertaken with the goal of maintaining free-roaming behavior.” Id. at § 4700.0-6(c) (emphasis added). Accordingly, BLM’s decision is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, and not in accordance with law within the meaning of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). 74. II.



BLM’s decisions injure Plaintiffs in the manner described in ¶¶ 7-13.



Claims Under the National Environmental Policy Act 75.



Defendants have violated the National Environmental Policy Act and the CEQ



implementing regulations by failing to prepare an Environmental Impact Statement with respect to the 10-year plan, which involves, inter alia, the removal of over 9,000 wild horses from the Antelope/Triple B Complexes, as well as the controversial use of geldings and GonaCon to manage the wild horse populations in these areas. Because the challenged decision implicates several of the CEQ significance requirements—i.e., in involves environmental effects that are “highly controversial,” “highly uncertain” and involve “unique or unknown risks”; the action “may establish a precedent for future actions with significant effects”; the action “may cause loss
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or destruction of significant . . . cultural or historical resources” (wild horses); and the action “threatens a violation” of the federal WHA—an EIS is required. 76.



BLM’s decision injures Plaintiffs in the manner described in ¶¶ 7-13.



WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court enter an Order: 1.



Declaring that Defendants have violated the Wild Horse Act, NEPA, and the



Administrative Procedure Act; 2.



Enjoining Defendants from taking any further actions under the 10-year plan until



they have fully complied with the provisions of the WHA, NEPA, and the APA, including the preparation of an EIS; 3.



Awarding Plaintiffs their attorneys’ fees and costs in this action; and



4.



Granting Plaintiffs any further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. Respectfully submitted,



 



 



 



 



 



 



___/s/__________________________ Jon M. Ludwig [email protected] Nevada Bar No. 3998 Wilson Elser Moskowitz Edelman & Dicker LLP 300 S. Fourth Street, 11th Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 702-727-1400     702-727-1401 (fax)   



 



__/s/_________________________ Katherine A. Meyer (motion for pro hac vice admission pending) D.C. Bar No. 244301 [email protected]



__/s/_________________________ William Nicholson Lawton (motion for pro hac vice admission pending) D.C. Bar No. 1046604 25   



 



[email protected]  Meyer Glitzenstein & Eubanks, LLP 4115 Wisconsin Ave. N.W., Suite 210 Washington, D.C. 20016 (202) 588-5206 (202) 588-5049 (fax) Counsel for Plaintiffs



Date: February 5, 2018
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